

MAINE STATE LEGISLATURE

The following document is provided by the
LAW AND LEGISLATIVE DIGITAL LIBRARY
at the Maine State Law and Legislative Reference Library
<http://legislature.maine.gov/lawlib>



Reproduced from electronic originals
(may include minor formatting differences from printed original)

LAWS
OF THE
STATE OF MAINE

AS PASSED BY THE
ONE HUNDRED AND TWENTY-FIRST LEGISLATURE

FIRST SPECIAL SESSION
August 21, 2003 to August 22, 2003

The General Effective Date For
First Special Session
Non-Emergency Laws Is
November 22, 2003

SECOND REGULAR SESSION
January 7, 2004 to January 30, 2004

The General Effective Date For
Second Regular Session
Non-Emergency Laws Is
April 30, 2004

SECOND SPECIAL SESSION
February 3, 2004 to April 30, 2004

The General Effective Date For
Second Special Session
Non-Emergency Laws Is
July 30, 2004

PUBLISHED BY THE REVISOR OF STATUTES
IN ACCORDANCE WITH MAINE REVISED STATUTES ANNOTATED,
TITLE 3, SECTION 163-A, SUBSECTION 4.

Penmor Lithographers
Lewiston, Maine
2004

CHAPTER 640

H.P. 1407 - L.D. 1901

**An Act To Protect Health and the
Environment by Improving the
System for the Collection and
Recovery of Mercury-added
Thermostats**

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows:

Sec. 1. 38 MRSA §1664, sub-§2, as enacted by PL 1999, c. 779, §2, is repealed and the following enacted in its place:

2. Thermostats. The following provisions apply to thermostats that contain mercury.

A. A manufacturer of thermostats that contain mercury or a manufacturer of thermostats that may replace thermostats that contain mercury shall, in addition to meeting the requirements under section 1662, provide incentives and sufficient information to purchasers and consumers of the thermostats for the purchasers or consumers to ensure that mercury in thermostats being removed from service is reused, recycled or otherwise managed in compliance with section 1663. A manufacturer that has complied with this subsection is not liable for improper disposal by purchasers or consumers of thermostats. Manufacturer collection programs conducted in accordance with universal waste rules adopted by the department meet the requirements of this subsection.

B. A wholesaler may not sell a thermostat in the State unless the wholesaler acts as a collection site for thermostats that contain mercury.

(1) A wholesaler may meet the requirements of this paragraph by participating as a collection site in a manufacturer collection program as described under paragraph A or by collecting thermostats that contain mercury and disposing of the collected thermostats in accordance with universal waste rules adopted by the department.

(2) For purposes of this paragraph, "wholesaler" means a business that the department determines is primarily engaged in the distribution and wholesale selling of large quantities of heating, ventilation and air conditioning components to contractors who install heating, ventilation and air conditioning components.

See title page for effective date.

CHAPTER 641

S.P. 744 - L.D. 1900

**An Act To Implement the
Recommendations of the Community
Preservation Advisory Committee
Regarding the State Planning
Office's Review of Growth
Management Programs**

Emergency preamble. Whereas, Acts of the Legislature do not become effective until 90 days after adjournment unless enacted as emergencies; and

Whereas, several municipalities may lose financial assistance and regional planning grants if the law is not clarified to allow those grants to be carried forward twice; and

Whereas, in the judgment of the Legislature, these facts create an emergency within the meaning of the Constitution of Maine and require the following legislation as immediately necessary for the preservation of the public peace, health and safety; now, therefore,

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows:

Sec. 1. 5 MRSA §1589, first ¶, as amended by PL 1995, c. 464, §5, is further amended to read:

At the end of each fiscal year, unencumbered appropriation and allocation balances lapse into the appropriate fund and are not available unless authorized by law. Encumbered balances may not be carried forward more than once at the end of a fiscal year, except that all encumbered balances and accounts for financial assistance and regional planning grants in accordance with Title 30-A, chapter 187 may be carried forward for 2 years beyond the year in which those balances are encumbered.

Sec. 2. 30-A MRSA §4314, sub-§1, as amended by PL 2001, c. 406, §3, is further amended to read:

1. Comprehensive plan. A municipal comprehensive plan adopted or amended by a municipality under former Title 30, chapter 239, subchapter ~~¶ 5~~ or ~~¶ 6~~ remains in effect until amended or repealed in accordance with the procedures, goals and guidelines established in this subchapter.

Sec. 3. 30-A MRSA §4314, sub-§2, as amended by PL 2001, c. 406, §3, is repealed and the following enacted in its place:

2. Shoreland and floodplain zoning ordinances. Notwithstanding section 4352, subsection 2,

any portion of a zoning ordinance that is not consistent with a comprehensive plan adopted in accordance with the procedures, goals and guidelines established in this subchapter is no longer in effect 24 months after adoption of the plan unless the ordinance:

A. Does not regulate land use beyond the area required by Title 38, chapter 3, subchapter 1, article 2-B; or

B. Is adopted pursuant to and complies with the provisions of Title 38, section 440 and complies with the requirements of the Federal Flood Insurance Program.

Sec. 4. 30-A MRSA §4314, sub-§3, as amended by PL 2001, c. 578, §10, is further amended to read:

3. Rate of growth, zoning and impact fee ordinances. After January 1, 2003, any portion of a municipality's or multimunicipal region's rate of growth, zoning or impact fee ordinance must be consistent with a comprehensive plan adopted under in accordance with the procedures, goals and guidelines established in this subchapter. The portion of a rate of growth, zoning or impact fee ordinance that is not consistent with a comprehensive plan is no longer in effect unless:

C. The ordinance or portion of the ordinance is exempted under subsection 2;

D. The municipality or multimunicipal region is under contract with the office to prepare a comprehensive plan or implementation program, in which case the ordinance or portion of the ordinance remains valid for up to 4 years after receipt of the first installment of its first planning assistance grant or for up to 2 years after receipt of the first installment of its first implementation assistance grant, whichever is earlier;

E. The ordinance or portion of the ordinance conflicts with a newly adopted comprehensive plan or plan amendment adopted under in accordance with the procedures, goals and guidelines established in this subchapter, in which case the ordinance or portion of the ordinance remains in effect for a period of up to 24 months immediately following adoption of the comprehensive plan or plan amendment; or

F. The municipality or multimunicipal region applied for and was denied financial assistance for its first planning assistance or implementation assistance grant under this subchapter due to lack of state funds on or before January 1, 2003. If the office subsequently offers the municipality or multimunicipal region its first planning assistance or implementation assistance grant, the

municipality or multimunicipal region has up to one year to contract with the office to prepare a comprehensive plan or implementation program, in which case the municipality's or multimunicipal region's ordinances will be subject to paragraph D.

Sec. 5. 30-A MRSA §4314, sub-§4, as enacted by PL 1991, c. 722, §6 and affected by §11, is repealed.

Sec. 6. 30-A MRSA §4323, sub-§2, as enacted by PL 1989, c. 104, Pt. A, §45 and Pt. C, §10, is amended to read:

2. Growth management program. Adopt and amend local growth management programs, including comprehensive plans and implementation programs, consistent with the procedures, goals and guidelines established in this subchapter; and

Sec. 7. 30-A MRSA §4324, sub-§§1 and 2, as amended by PL 2001, c. 578, §13, are further amended to read:

1. Growth management program. Each municipality or multimunicipal region may prepare a growth management program in accordance with this section or may amend its existing comprehensive plan and existing land use ordinances to comply with the procedures, goals and guidelines established in this subchapter.

2. Planning committee. If a municipality or multimunicipal region chooses to prepare a growth management program, the municipal officers of a municipality or combination of municipalities shall designate and establish a planning committee, which may include one or more municipal officials.

A. The municipal officers may designate any existing planning board or district established under subchapter ~~IV~~ 4, or a former similar provision, as the planning committee. Planning boards established under former Title 30, section 4952, subsection 1 continue to be governed by those provisions until they are superseded by municipal charter or ordinance.

B. The planning committee may develop and maintain a comprehensive plan and may develop any portion of an implementation program to which it is assigned in an adopted comprehensive plan or otherwise directed by the municipal officers or municipal legislative body or bodies. In performing these duties, the planning committee shall:

(1) Hold public hearings and use other methods to solicit and strongly encourage citizen input; and

(2) Prepare the comprehensive plan or any portion of the implementation program to which it is assigned in an adopted comprehensive plan and make recommendations to the municipal legislative body regarding the adoption and implementation of the program or amended program.

Sec. 8. 30-A MRSA §4324, sub-§8, as amended by PL 2001, c. 578, §13, is further amended to read:

8. Public hearing required. The planning committee shall hold at least one public hearing on its proposed comprehensive plan.

A. Notice of ~~any~~ a public hearing must be posted in each municipality at least 30 days before the hearing, except that, if a follow-up hearing is held pursuant to comments made at a public hearing, the follow-up hearing may be conducted if public notice is given pursuant to Title 1, section 406.

B. A copy of the proposed comprehensive plan must be made available for public inspection at each municipal office or other convenient location with regular public hours at least 30 days before the hearing. If modification of the plan is proposed pursuant to comments made at a public hearing, and if a follow-up public hearing is to be held, the proposed changes must be made available for public inspection at each municipal office or other convenient location with regular public hours before any follow-up hearing.

Sec. 9. 30-A MRSA §4345, first ¶, as amended by PL 2001, c. 578, §18, is further amended to read:

Under the provisions of this article, a municipality or multimunicipal region may request financial or technical assistance from the office for the purpose of planning and implementing a growth management program. A municipality or multimunicipal region that requests and receives a financial assistance grant shall develop and implement its growth management program in cooperation with the office and in a manner consistent with the provisions of this article procedures, goals and guidelines established in this subchapter.

Sec. 10. 30-A MRSA §4346, 2nd ¶, as amended by PL 2001, c. 578, §19, is further amended to read:

The office may enter into financial assistance grants only to the extent that funds are available. In making grants, the office shall consider the need for planning in a municipality or multimunicipal region, the proximity of the municipality or multimunicipal

region to other areas that are conducting or have completed the planning process and the economic and geographic role of the municipality or multimunicipal region within a regional context. The office may consider other criteria in making grants, as long as the criteria support the goal of encouraging and facilitating the adoption and implementation of local and multimunicipal growth management programs consistent with the provisions of this article procedures, goals and guidelines established in this subchapter. In order to maximize the availability of the technical and financial assistance program to all municipalities, multimunicipal regions and regional councils, financial assistance programs administered competitively under this article are exempt from rules adopted by the Department of Administrative and Financial Services pursuant to Title 5, section 1825-C for use in the purchase of services and the awarding of grants and contracts. The office shall publish a program statement describing its grant program and advertising its availability to eligible applicants.

Sec. 11. 30-A MRSA §4346, sub-§2-B, ¶H, as amended by PL 2001, c. 578, §19, is further amended to read:

H. Any other purpose agreed to by the office and the municipality or multimunicipal region that is directly related to the preparation of a comprehensive plan or the implementation of a comprehensive plan adopted ~~under~~ in accordance with the procedures, goals and guidelines established in this subchapter.

Sec. 12. 30-A MRSA §4346, sub-§2-D is enacted to read:

2-D. Encumbered balances at year-end. Notwithstanding Title 5, section 1589, at the end of each fiscal year, all encumbered balances accounts for financial assistance and regional planning grants may be carried forward for 2 years beyond the year in which those balances are encumbered.

Sec. 13. 30-A MRSA §4347-A, sub-§1, as amended by PL 2001, c. 578, §20, is further amended to read:

1. Comprehensive plans. A municipality or multimunicipal region that chooses to prepare a growth management program and receives a planning grant under this article shall submit its comprehensive plan to the office for review. A municipality or multimunicipal region that chooses to prepare a growth management program without receiving a planning grant under this article may submit its comprehensive plan to the office for review. The office shall review plans for consistency with the procedures, goals and guidelines established in this subchapter. ~~Any~~ A contract for a planning assistance

grant must include specific timetables governing the review of the comprehensive plan by the office. ~~Any~~ A comprehensive plan submitted for review more than 12 months following a contract end date may be required to ~~update~~ contain data, projections and other time-sensitive portions of the plan or program ~~to that~~ are in compliance with the office's most current review standards.

Sec. 14. 30-A MRSA §4347-A, sub-§2, ¶C is enacted to read:

C. Upon a request for review under this section, the office may review rate of growth, impact fee and zoning ordinances to determine whether the ordinances are consistent with a comprehensive plan that has been found consistent under this section without requiring submission of all elements of a growth management program. An affirmative finding of consistency by the office is required for a municipality or multimunicipal region to assert jurisdiction as provided in section 4349-A.

Sec. 15. 30-A MRSA §4347-A, sub-§3, ¶¶C and D, as amended by PL 2001, c. 578, §20, are further amended to read:

C. Within 60 days after receiving the comprehensive plan or 90 days after receiving the growth management program, send all written comments on the comprehensive plan or growth management program to the municipality or multimunicipal region and any applicable regional council. If warranted, the office shall issue findings specifically describing how the submitted plan or growth management program is not consistent with the procedures, goals and guidelines established in this subchapter and the recommended measures for remedying the deficiencies.

(1) In its findings, the office shall clearly indicate its position on any point on which there are significant conflicts among the written comments submitted to the office.

(2) If the office finds that the comprehensive plan or growth management program was adopted ~~under~~ in accordance with the procedures, goals and guidelines established in this subchapter, the office shall issue a finding of consistency for the comprehensive plan or a certificate of consistency for the growth management program.

(3) Notwithstanding paragraph D, if a municipality or multimunicipal region requests a certificate of consistency for its growth management program, any unmodified

component of that program that has previously been reviewed by the office and has received a finding of consistency will retain that finding during program certification review by the office as long as the finding of consistency is current as defined in rules adopted by the office;

D. Provide ample opportunity for the municipality or multimunicipal region submitting a comprehensive plan or growth management program to respond to and correct any identified deficiencies in the plan or program. A finding of inconsistency for a comprehensive plan or growth management program may be addressed within 24 months of the date of the finding without ~~jeopardizing partial findings of consistency attained during that review~~ addressing any new review standards that are created during that time interval. After 24 months, the plan or program must be resubmitted in its entirety for state review under the office's most current review standards; and

Sec. 16. 30-A MRSA §4349-A, sub-§1, ¶A, as amended by PL 2001, c. 406, §12, is further amended to read:

A. A locally designated growth area, as identified in a comprehensive plan adopted pursuant to and consistent with the procedures, goals and guidelines of this subchapter or as identified in a growth management program certified under section 4347-A;

Sec. 17. 30-A MRSA §4349-A, sub-§3, as amended by PL 2001, c. 406, §15, is further amended to read:

3. Preference for other state grants and investments. When awarding grants or making a discretionary investment under any of the programs under paragraphs A and B or undertaking its own capital investment programs other than for projects identified in section 4301, subsection 5-B, a state agency shall respect the primary purpose of its grant or investment program and, to the extent feasible, give preference first to a municipality that receives a certificate of consistency under section 4347-A and 2nd to a municipality that has adopted a comprehensive plan consistent with the procedures, goals and guidelines of this subchapter over a municipality that does not obtain the certificate or finding of consistency within 4 years after receipt of the first installment of a financial assistance grant or rejection of an offer of financial assistance. This subsection applies to:

A. Programs that assist in the acquisition of land for conservation, natural resource protection,

open space or recreational facilities under Title 5, chapter 353; and

B. Programs intended to:

- (1) Accommodate or encourage additional growth and development;
- (2) Improve, expand or construct public facilities; or
- (3) Acquire land for conservation or management of specific economic and natural resource concerns.

This subsection does not apply to state grants or other assistance for sewage treatment facilities, public health programs or education.

The office shall work with state agencies to prepare mechanisms for establishing preferences in specific investment and grant programs as described in paragraphs A and B.

Sec. 18. **38 MRSA §440, 2nd ¶**, as reallocated by PL 1985, c. 481, Pt. A, §28, is amended to read:

Zoning ordinances A zoning ordinance adopted or extended pursuant to this section shall must be pursuant to and consistent with a comprehensive plan unless the ordinance complies with the requirements of the Federal Flood Insurance Program or other provisions of this section.

Emergency clause. In view of the emergency cited in the preamble, this Act takes effect when approved.

Effective April 14, 2004.

CHAPTER 642

H.P. 1453 - L.D. 1952

An Act To Regulate the Breeding and Sale of Small Mammals

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows:

Sec. 1. **7 MRSA c. 730-A**, as amended, is further amended by repealing the chapter headnote and enacting the following in its place:

CHAPTER 730-A

BREEDING, SALE AND TRANSPORTATION OF SMALL MAMMALS

Sec. 2. **7 MRSA §3970-B** is enacted to read:

§3970-B. Breeding and sale of small mammals

1. Rulemaking. The commissioner shall adopt major substantive rules in accordance with Title 5, chapter 375, subchapter 2-A to regulate the breeding and sale of small mammals, including, but not limited to, guinea pigs, hamsters and rabbits. The rules must reflect the standards of the Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service of the United States Department of Agriculture for the care of small mammals. Rules adopted pursuant to this section apply only to persons who are not regulated or required to be licensed under chapter 723 or 735.

2. Penalty. A person who violates the rules adopted under this section commits a civil violation for which a fine not to exceed \$100 per violation may be adjudged.

See title page for effective date.

CHAPTER 643

H.P. 1450 - L.D. 1950

An Act To Repeal Certain Boards and Commissions

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows:

Sec. 1. **5 MRSA c. 17**, as amended, is repealed.

Sec. 2. **5 MRSA §12004-G, sub-§9-A**, as enacted by PL 1995, c. 430, §1, is repealed.

Sec. 3. **5 MRSA §12004-I, sub-§6-B**, as corrected by RR 1993, c. 1, §12, is repealed.

Sec. 4. **5 MRSA §12004-K, sub-§9**, as enacted by PL 1987, c. 786, §5, is repealed.

Sec. 5. **5 MRSA §12004-L, sub-§11**, as enacted by PL 1999, c. 428, §2, is repealed.

Sec. 6. **5 MRSA §12006, sub-§3** is enacted to read:

3. Repeal requirement. The Secretary of State may not include in the legislation required under subsection 2 and may not require an annual report as required under section 12005-A from any of the following boards and commissions that has been inactive during the preceding 24 months:

A. Mining Excise Tax Trust Fund Board of Trustees, as established in section 12004-G, subsection 33-B;